FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
2/24/2022 11:26 AM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

NO.
100685-3

IN THE SUPREME COURT
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

JOHN SANCHEZ,
Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE
STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR THURSTON COUNTY

The Honorable Christopher Lanese, Judge

PETITION FOR REVIEW OF REVIEW OF THE COURT OF
APPEALS JANUARY 25, 2022 DECISION IN STATE V. SANCHEZ
NO. No. 53296-4-II (consolidated with No. 53329-4-II)

LISE ELLNER, WSBA No. 20955
ERIN C. SPERGER, WSBA No. 45931
Attorneys for Appellant

LAW OFFICES OF LISE ELLNER
Post Office Box 2711
Vashon, WA 98070
(206) 930-1090

A. IDENTITY OF THE PETITIONER

Petitioner John Sanchez through his attorney, Erin C. Sperger, asks this court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision designated in Part B of this Petition.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

John Sanchez requests review of the Court of Appeals January 25, 2022 decision, which is attached (Appendix A).

C. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Did the Court of Appeals incorrectly hold that allowing Sanchez's counsel to withdraw on the first day of trial and ordering Sanchez to proceed pro se was not a manifest injustice because Sanchez forfeited his right to counsel by conduct when Sanchez repeatedly requested his appointed counsel defend him in a meaningful way?
2. Did the Court of Appeals incorrectly hold that appointing standby counsel for the plea proceeding was sufficient and did not create a manifest injustice requiring withdrawal of Sanchez's plea agreement?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The facts are set forth in detail in the Petitioner's March 27,

2020 opening brief and incorporated by reference herein. In

addition, the following facts are relevant:

1. Sanchez's history of representation

Because the doctrines of waiver by conduct and forfeiture are fact specific, it is necessary to recite Sanchez's history of representation.

The trial court released Sanchez's first trial attorney and all Thurston County Public Defense employees because Sanchez complained that office implemented an erroneous practice at bail hearings. CP 248, 249, 285-86.

Second trial counsel moved to withdraw citing a breakdown in communication. CP 250-52. The court granted the motion to withdraw. CP 257.

After the court dismissed second trial counsel, third trial counsel filed a notice of appearance but was conflicted by the court's initial order recusing all Thurston County Public Defense employees. CP 249, 258-60. The court then authorized Sanchez to proceed pro se with standby counsel. CP 261.

As an incarcerated, self-represented, defendant, Sanchez moved the court to order Thurston County Corrections Facility to make certain accommodations to facilitate a fair trial. This included:

allowing phone calls during business hours, authorizing legal copies, and providing Sanchez adequate law library time. CP 262-66.

There is no record this motion was heard, thus, the proceedings continued in the trial court without addressing the obstacles Sanchez faced being incarcerated. As a result, Sanchez filed a motion to relinquish pro se status. CP 267.

Fourth trial counsel appeared but withdrew approximately one month later when she discovered a conflict. CP 268-70, 280-81. In addition to the conflict, Sanchez alleged that fourth trial counsel breached her duty of confidentiality to Sanchez by discussing his case with another inmate. CP 285-86.

Fifth trial counsel appeared, and shortly after his appearance the state moved to join cause numbers 17-1-01676-34 and 18-1-02130-34. CP 282-84, 287-95. When fifth trial counsel failed to object, Sanchez filed a complaint against him with the court. CP 296.

Approximately three months after appearing, fifth trial counsel moved to withdraw for reasons including: Sanchez's expressed dissatisfaction with trial counsel, Sanchez's statements that trial counsel was "fired", and Sanchez's request for trial counsel to cease working on Sanchez's case required trial counsel to move to

withdraw under RPC 1.16. CP 299-303. The court denied counsel's motion. CP 304.

Trial in this case was Monday, April 8, 2019, the same day fifth trial counsel was scheduled for trial in another case in Lewis County. CP 307-09. Both Lewis and Thurston County courts were aware of the conflict and both refused to continue the trial dates. CP 307-09; RP 48 (4/8/19).

On the Friday before trial counsel again moved to withdraw, this time citing two grounds: (a) Sanchez filed a civil malpractice lawsuit against counsel and (b) confidential reasons that create a conflict. CP 310-14.

2. motion to withdraw as trial counsel

On April 5, 2019, the court the excluded Sanchez from the courtroom over his objection and closed the courtroom to hear trial counsel's argument on his motion to withdraw RP 15 (4/5/19). The court noted that it considered the *Ishikawa*¹ factors and found all the factors were met but did not conduct that analysis on the record. RP 15-16 (4/5/19).

Sanchez objected to being excluded because the trial court

1 *Seattle Times Co. v. Ishikawa*, 97 Wn.2d 30, 36, 640 P.2d 716 (1982).

only permitted trial counsel's side of the story, and Sanchez was concerned taking testimony from trial counsel would reveal attorney-client privileged information. RP 16 (4/5/19). The trial court denied Sanchez's objection because Sanchez did not oppose trial counsel's motion to withdraw from representation, thus, trial counsel's testimony "would not change the outcome of anything." RP 17 (4/5/19).

After the court closed the courtroom, trial counsel recited hearsay statements from jail staff allegedly overhearing Sanchez comment in the past about assaulting trial counsel. RP 20 (4/5/19). However, trial counsel specifically stated this was not grounds to withdraw and did not say he felt threatened. RP 20 (4/5/19). Trial counsel also noted that Sanchez refused to meet with trial counsel and his investigator. RP 20 (4/5/19). However, trial counsel stated the central reason for withdrawal was the malpractice lawsuit Sanchez filed against him, which materially limited trial counsel's representation because he was worried about his own financial well-being. RP 23 (4/5/19). The Court did not consider that fifth trial counsel still had trial in Lewis County scheduled for that Monday.

The trial court took this under advisement and excused the

parties for the day. RP 18, 25 (4/5/19).

3. History of incomplete discovery prior to fifth counsel's withdrawal

Sanchez first complained about incomplete discovery by filing a complaint against his second trial counsel. Sanchez moved the court to order counsel to perform several tasks Sanchez believed were imperative to his defense including demanding full discovery which included the "full forensic phone dump", sending a subpoena to a possible defense witness, and requesting a subpoena for other possible exculpatory evidence. CP 253-55, 256. The court did not rule on Sanchez's motion to compel second trial counsel's performance, but instead permitted counsel to withdraw. CP 257.

While Sanchez was acting pro se he requested the court compel the state to provide discovery and issue subpoenas for the same information he previously requested his second trial counsel obtain, namely, phone records and data. CP 262-66. There is no record this motion was ever heard.

Fourth trial counsel moved to compel cell phone records in a raw format so a defense expert could determine whether the data had been manipulated – this was the same discovery Sanchez requested from second trial counsel and while proceeding pro se. CP 258-60, 271-79. However, fourth counsel withdrew before the motion

was heard. CP 280-81.

On the first day of trial, the state alleged that it provided Sanchez with discovery for counts one through five in August 2018. RP 30 (4/8/19). However, this conflicts with Sanchez's repeated requests for discovery and complaints about failing to receive it. The state prepared and served a redacted set of discovery for Sanchez on counts six through sixteen that day, April 8. RP 30 (4/8/19).

On Monday, the trial court asked trial counsel to recite the timeline of his appointment and when he received discovery. RP 27 (4/8/19). Trial counsel stated that he received discovery on the 2017 case in mid-November 2018, and discovery on the 2018 case, which was consolidated with the 2017 case, shortly after the case was filed in December 2018. RP 27-28 (4/8/19). Sanchez disputed trial counsel's assertion that counsel reviewed the discovery with him. RP 28 (4/8/19).

Trial counsel also explained that sometime in January, Sanchez ceased agreeing to meet and communication became nonexistent. RP 29 (4/8/19). Then, according to trial counsel, Sanchez agreed to meet but the meetings were not productive because Sanchez was hostile toward trial counsel. RP 28, 30

(4/8/19). Sanchez explained the reasons he had “fired” fifth trial counsel include counsel’s failure to oppose the state’s motion for joinder, his failure to compel compliance with a subpoena duces tecum regarding the phone records which were central to several counts charged, counsel’s failure to interview any witnesses, and counsel’s refusal to obtain a psychiatric evaluation. RP 31, 33-34 (4/8/19).

Sanchez further objected to immediately proceeding with trial pro se because he was not given proper notice that he would need to be prepared to proceed pro se. RP 34 (4/8/19). Sanchez argued that forcing him to proceed to trial unprepared violated his fundamental right to a fair trial and to the effective assistance of counsel. RP 38 (4/8/19).

The court authorized trial counsel to withdrawal and found Sanchez both waived by conduct and forfeited his right to be represented by a lawyer. RP 40-41 (4/8/19). The court ordered the parties move forward with impaneling the jury. RP 43 (4/8/19).

4. Guilty plea and appointment of standby counsel

Over the lunch hour on the third day of trial, Sanchez decided to review the state’s offer and the court appointed standby counsel to assist him. RP 248 (4/10/19). The order appointing standby

counsel specified that standby counsel's duties were limited to the following: assisting Sanchez in reviewing the state's plea offer, reviewing statement of defendant on plea of guilty, and assisting Sanchez in standby counsel capacity for sentencing. CP 55. Additionally, the order specifically stated that it "in no way alters the prior ruling of the Court that Mr. Sanchez has waived his right to counsel by conduct and forfeited his right to counsel by misconduct. Standby counsel's duties do not include stepping in to represent the defendant during trial and that shall not occur." CP 55.

The court allowed Sanchez 45 minutes with standby counsel to review the plea and warned that if Sanchez did not sign a plea within those 45 minutes then the trial would proceed. RP 261, 263 (4/10/19).

Sanchez pled guilty to the seventh amended information. RP 275-76 (4/10/19).

5. Sanchez's motions for continuance to prepare for trial denied

After receiving the redacted discovery for counts six through sixteen for the first time on the first day of trial, Sanchez attempted to request a continuance, but the court told Sanchez that as a self-represented party he may be held in contempt for speaking out of turn. RP 46 (4/8/19). According to the court, the jury was going to be

impaneled regardless of Sanchez's objections because any prejudice to Sanchez was his own fault. RP 46-48. (4/8/19). However, the court did not consider trial counsel's conflicting trial schedule as a factor in why the case was not ready for trial. RP 46-48. (4/8/19). And the court considered Sanchez's many complaints about his attorneys' failure to obtain appropriate discovery to be dilatory and abusive toward those attorneys. RP 41 (4/8/19).

When Sanchez renewed his motion for continuance two more times because he felt sick, the court stated that it did not find Sanchez credible and denied the motion. RP 57-59, 63 (4/8/19).

When Sanchez requested more time to respond to the state's motions in limine the court denied his request. RP 65 (4/8/19).

On the second day of trial, Sanchez again moved to continue the trial because he was sick RP 95 (4/9/19). The court denied Sanchez's motion to continue unless or until it received medical documentation that he was incapable of proceeding. RP 98 (4/9/19).

When the state indicated its doubt about Sanchez's assertion that he was sick, the court stated that it did not find Sanchez credible and would not believe anything Sanchez said unless his condition was visible to the court. RP 167 (4/9/19). The court further noted that

even if the court had documentation from a medical provider it was not likely to find Sanchez's self-reported condition or symptoms credible. RP 168 (4/9/19). Sanchez objected to being called a "liar" and stated that Deputy Snyder, who transported Sanchez from the jail could confirm Sanchez had vomited over the lunch hour. RP 169 (4/9/19).

The court placed Deputy Snyder under oath and questioned him. RP 169 (4/9/19). Deputy Snyder testified that he escorted Sanchez to the restroom. He did not see any vomit coming from Sanchez's mouth but Deputy Snyder was not physically with Sanchez in the restroom. RP 169-70 (4/9/19). When Sanchez asked whether Deputy Snyder heard him vomiting the court did not allow the deputy to answer. Instead, the court asked Deputy Snyder whether "it was the case that people might make gagging noises such that they want people to believe that they are actually vomiting when they are not actually vomiting?" RP 170 (4/9/19). Deputy Snyder answered yes and the court did not allow any cross-examination. RP 170 (4/9/19).

By the end of the second day of trial Sanchez had still not had an opportunity to interview the state's witnesses. RP 175 (4/9/19).

Nor was Sanchez provided the full discovery recovered from the victim's phone, which appears to be the same information that was the subject of the motion to compel that was never heard and the information that was the subject of a subpoena duces tecum which Sanchez alleged trial counsel did not move to enforce. RP 183-84 (4/9/19).

6. Sanchez's request for psychological evaluation and to change his plea denied

Sanchez moved to have himself declared incompetent to stand trial and requested a psychological evaluation. RP 47 (4/8/19). He also requested to change his plea to not guilty by reason of insanity. RP 113-14 (4/9/19).

The court stated it would consider other motives for requesting a change of plea to be relevant. RP 119 (4/9/19). The prosecuting attorney stated that she reviewed the jail calls placed with Sanchez's PIN on April 7 and the male speaker whom she recognized as Sanchez said that "he might just go and 10.77 just for the fuck of it." RP 120 (4/9/19). However, the state did not present a copy of that phone call. RP 120 (4/9/19). Instead, the court put the prosecuting attorney under oath and allowed her to testify that in her opinion Sanchez raised the 10.77 issue as an attempt to interfere with the

administration of justice and to delay trial. RP 122 (4/9/19). The court did not allow Sanchez to cross-examine the prosecutor or to hear the jail calls. RP 124 (4/9/19). Based on the prosecutor's testimony and the court's personal opinion the court denied Sanchez's motions finding that Sanchez's purpose in requesting to change his plea was solely to delay the proceedings and control the court. RP 135 (4/9/19).

7. Motion to withdrawal guilty plea

Prior to sentencing, Sanchez moved to withdraw his guilty plea under CrR 4.2 on the basis that the guilty plea should be withdrawn to stop a manifest injustice. Sanchez argued in his briefing that his plea was taken under duress and that he was denied counsel. CP 180-181.

The trial court ultimately denied Sanchez's motion in its entirety and entered the following findings and conclusions:

That the defendant failed to meet his burden of proving a manifest injustice CP 238-39 (FFCL 7/2/19).

There is no valid basis on which to grant the defendant's motion to withdraw his guilty plea, and the motion is denied. CP 238-39 (FFCL 7/2/19).

On appeal, the Court of Appeals held "Sanchez forfeited his

right to counsel” and the “limited representation Sanchez enjoyed for the plea proceedings was not a manifest injustice.” *State v. Sanchez*, No. 53296-4-II (consolidated with No. 53329-4-II), Slip Opinion at 19 (Jan. 25, 2022) (Hereinafter “Opinion”). The Court of Appeals declined to reach whether Sanchez waived his right to counsel his conduct, which requires the court warn a defendant that his behavior will be considered a waiver of the right to counsel, and instead found Sanchez forfeited his right to counsel, which does not require a warning. Opinion at 19, 22.

The Court of Appeals also declined to address Sanchez’s arguments based on CrR 7.8 because it determined the trial Court did not treat Sanchez’s motion to vacate his judgment and sentence as a CrR 7.8 motion. Opinion at 22-23. But, although Sanchez did not list CrR 7.8 in the title, he orally argued his plea should be withdrawn under CrR 7.8 (b) (1)-(5) because the trial court violated his right to due process (RP 31-32 (7/2/19)) and the trial court acknowledged it “considered each and every one...” of Sanchez’s arguments. RP 77 (7/2/19).

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

1. The Court of Appeals’ decision affirming forfeiture of counsel raises a significant question of law under the

Washington and United States Constitutions and involves an issue of substantial public interest this Court should determine.

The Court of Appeals incorrectly held Sanchez forfeited his right to counsel and that standby counsel's limited representation at the plea stage was sufficient. Opinion at 19.

A criminal defendant is guaranteed the right to counsel "at all critical stages of a criminal proceeding..." *State v. Robinson*, 153 Wn.2d 689, 694, 107 P.3d 90 (2005); CrR 3.1 (b)(2). A stage is critical if it presents a possibility of prejudice to the defendant. *State v. Hawkins*, 164 Wn. App. 705, 715, 265 P.3d 185 (2011); *State v. Harell*, 80 Wn. App. 802, 804, 911 P.2d 1034 (1996). This includes plea negotiations (*State v. James*, 48 Wn. App. 353, 362, 739 P.2d 1161 (1987)) along with sentencing and presentencing plea withdrawal hearings. *State v. Rupe*, 108 Wn.2d 734, 741, 743 P.2d 210 (1987); *Harell*, 80 Wn. App. at 804. A trial court does not have discretion to "relieve present counsel and require a non-waiving defendant to proceed without counsel" at any of these stages. *State v. Bandura*, 85 Wn. App. 87, 97, 931 P.2d 174 (1997) (citations omitted).

Because Sanchez pled guilty, this Court reviews the trial

court's decision to determine whether denying Sanchez counsel at trial and ordering him to proceed pro se was a manifest injustice justifying withdrawal of Sanchez's guilty plea, and whether the trial court abused its discretion in denying Sanchez's motion to withdraw his plea. CrR 4.2(f); *State v. Robinson*, 172 Wn.2d 783, 791, 263 P.3d 1233 (2011). The remedy for abuse of discretion is reversal. *State v. DeClue*, 157 Wn. App. 787, 791, 239 P.3d 377 (2010).

Denying a criminal defendant effective assistance of counsel is a manifest injustice. *State v. A.N.J.*, 168 Wn.2d 91, 119, 225 P.3d 956 (2010); *State v. Stough*, 96 Wn. App. 480, 484, 980 P.2d 298 (1999).

Here, it is undisputed that the trial court denied Sanchez counsel at trial and instead ordered him to proceed pro se. Thus, the issue here is whether Sanchez waived by conduct or forfeited his right to counsel.

A waiver by conduct is not valid unless the court warns the defendant he will lose his attorney if he engages in dilatory tactics and warns the defendant of the risks of proceeding pro se. *City of Tacoma v. Bishop*, 82 Wn. App. 850, 859, 920 P.2d 214 (1996) (citing *United States v. Goldberg*, 67 F.3d 1092, 1100-01 (3rd

Cir.1995). Here, it is undisputed the trial court failed to provide Sanchez with such a warning. Therefore, no valid waiver by conduct exists. The Court of Appeals recognized this and declined to reach the issue. Instead, it affirmed the trial court's finding that Sanchez forfeited his right to counsel with his "extremely dilatory" conduct. Opinion at 21.

While a defendant can forfeit his right to counsel, because of the harsh result, forfeiture applies in only very limited circumstances (*In re G.E.*, 116 Wn. App. 326, 334, 65 P.3d 1219 (2003) where the defendant has engaged in "extremely dilatory conduct" (*Bishop*, 82 Wn. App. at 858 (citing *Goldberg*, 67 F.3d at 1099–1102)).

Here, the Court of Appeals determined Sanchez's conduct was extremely dilatory because he prevented his attorney from preparing a defense (Opinion at 20 citing *In re Dependency of E.P.*, 136 Wn. App. 401, 405-06, 149 P.3d 440 (2006); he repeatedly failed to communicate with his attorneys or appear in court (Opinion at 20 citing *Id.* at 406); and he engaged in threatening or abusive conduct toward his attorneys (Opinion at 21 citing *State v. Palmer*, 18 Wn. App. 2d 825, 835, 493 P.3d 158 (2021)).

However, in *Palmer*, the Court of Appeals held that being

dissatisfied with several attorneys which results in several substitutions that delay trial is not extremely dilatory conduct. *Palmer*, 118 Wn. App. at 835. Although Palmer's third attorney commented that he feared for his personal safety, this also did not rise to the level of forfeiture. *Id.* at 835-36.

Here, Sanchez attempted to work with his attorneys, but each failed to interview the state's witnesses, obtain full discovery, and obtain the raw data from the victim's cell phone. CP 253-56, 271-79, 281. Fifth trial counsel failed to object to the state's motion to join the two underlying cases and was simultaneously preparing for a trial in another county for which trial was scheduled the same day as Sanchez's trial. CP 296, 307-09.

Sanchez even requested to proceed pro se until it became impossible to prepare for trial due to the obstacles of being incarcerated. When Sanchez requested a court order to assist him in overcoming those obstacles the court considered the motion untimely and did not hear it. CP 262-66. Despite being represented by five attorneys, on the first day of trial no witnesses had been interviewed by the defense. RP 175 (4/9/19).

Even in fifth trial counsel's closed courtroom testimony, he told

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