FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
3/25/2022 12:27 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

No. 100685-3 COA No. 53296-4-II Consolidated with No.53329-4-II

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

JOHN MICHAEL SANCHEZ Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR THURSTON COUNTY

The Honorable Chris Lanese, Judge Cause No. 17-1-01676-34

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Joseph J.A. Jackson Attorney for Respondent 2000 Lakeridge Drive S.W. Olympia, Washington 98502 (360) 786-5540

A. ISSUES PERTAINING TO REVIEW

- 1. Whether Sanchez has demonstrated that review of the Court of Appeals decision finding affirming the trial court's finding that Sanchez could not demonstrate a manifest injustice to withdraw his plea because he had forfeited his right to counsel is warranted under RAP 13.4.
- 2. Whether Sanchez has demonstrated that review of the Court of Appeals finding that the trial court denied a CrR 7.4 motion, not a CrR 7.8 motion, and thereby declining to review issues raised based on CrR 7.8, is appropriate under RAP 13.4

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

For purposes of this brief, the State incorporates by reference the Statement of the Case in the Brief of Respondent filed on July 23, 2020, incorporated by reference herein, with the following additional procedural history from the Court of Appeals decision. In the direct appeal, the petitioner John M. Sanchez argued that the trial court lacked jurisdiction and abused its discretion by denying his request for a competency

evaluation, denying his post-plea motions, and ordering an exceptional sentence. In an unpublished opinion, the Court of Appeals affirmed Sanchez's convictions but remanded for correction of the offender score and resentencing. State v. Sanchez, Unpublished Opinion, No 53296-4-II.

The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's finding that Sanchez had forfeited his right to counsel by conduct. *Id.* at 20. The Court of Appeals also found that the trial court properly denied Sanchez's motion for arrest of judgment under CrR 7.4 and declined to consider the motion under CrR 7.8. Sanchez now seeks review of those decisions.

C. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

A petition for review will be accepted by this Court only:

- (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or
- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or

- (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or
- (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

RAP 13.4(b).

1. The decision of the Court of Appeals finding that Sanchez forfeited his right to counsel was specific to the facts of this case and consistent with the precedent in this State.

Sanchez argues that this Court should accept review of the Court of Appeals finding that Sanchez forfeited his right to counsel because it involves a significant question of constitutional law and involves an issue of substantial public interest. The State does not argue that the right to counsel is not a significant question of constitutional law, but it is an issue that has significant guidance from the Court of Appeals and this Court. Moreover, the issue is very fact specific, making this petition for review noticeably limited to this case, rather than of substantial public interest. As such, the State asks that this Court deny review of the issue.

"A court may find that a defendant has forfeited his or her right to counsel after having engaged in 'extremely dilatory conduct' or 'extremely serious misconduct'." State v. Afeworki, 189 Wn.2d at 345, United States v. Thomas, 357 F.3d 357, 362 (3rd Cir. 2004). When defense counsel Strophy allowed to withdraw, he cited a breakdown in was communications with his client and angry and derogatory language and past and new threats towards him, indicating a belief that the conduct had created a conflict of interest as it "creates an issue of divided loyalties and places us in an adversarial position." CP 411-413. Strophy indicated "based on his aggressive language, past and new threats, and his demeanor towards me, I no longer feel comfortable meeting with him in the manner that would be necessary to prepare a case for trial." RP 412. This was despite the fact that Judge Price had previously warned Sanchez that he could not threaten his counsel. RP (5/10/19) 10-11.

continued to Sanchez engage in dishonest and manipulative behavior, arguing that Strophy was allowed to withdraw due to manifest error during his request to relinquish his pro se status. RP (8/24/18) 16. As Judge Lanese later noted, Sanchez continued in a pattern and practice designed to delay the proceedings, including refusing to be brought to court, even for hearings that he scheduled, refusing to speak with his counsel, being abusive to his counsel and continuing to threaten his counsel. RP (1/9/19) 37-38, RP 5-6, 41-43, 218-219. On January 9, 2019, the trial court stated that Sanchez, "may try to take certain actions to create certain conflicts," had flip-flopped repeatedly in his request for pro se status and appeared to be "making such requests in an attempt to manipulate and control the proceedings." RP (1/9/19) 37-38.

The record that Mr. Quillian provided only added to that finding, demonstrating a complete refusal to work with his trial counsel, continued abusive behavior toward his trial counsel, and an apparent intent to delay the proceedings through his

abuse. The trial court's finding that Sanchez's abusive and dilatory behavior was so extreme as to be inconsistent with the right to counsel and to constitute a forfeiture of the right to counsel is supported by Sanchez's conduct leading up to that moment throughout the proceedings. RP 41-43. Sanchez engaged in the exact manipulation of the right to counsel for the purpose of delay and disruption of trial that was discussed in DeWeese 117 Wn.2d 369, 379, 816 P.2d 1 (1991).

Sanchez's conduct at trial only further demonstrated his intent to delay the proceedings. RP 217. Even when Sanchez litigated his motion to withdraw his plea, he was attempting to manipulate the proceedings to accomplish his goals. 3 RP 24, 28, 29, 30, 51. The trial court did not abuse its discretion by finding that Sanchez had forfeited his right to counsel. As such, it was Sanchez's actions that caused him to be pro se. There was no manifest injustice in the plea process.

The Court of Appeals noted

Sanchez's tactics were so dilatory that two and a half years elapsed between his arrest and guilty plea. The trial court repeatedly found that Sanchez was actively delaying proceedings. refused to appear for at least 13 hearings; even after the trial court ordered that future refusals would constitute voluntary waiver of his right to attend pretrial proceedings. He filed bar complaints against at least three attorneys and sought court orders to force his lawyers to pursue frivolous actions. He threatened lawsuits against at least two attorneys and did file a malpractice lawsuit on the eve of trial to force attorney five's withdrawal. He also made threats of physical and financial harm against attorney five and an investigator. His behavior extended beyond the dilatory conduct that merited forfeiture of the right to counsel in E.P. and A.G. and bears notable similarity to the defendant in *Thomas*.

<u>Unpublished Opinion</u>, at 21 (internal citations omitted). Under the unique facts of this case, the Court of Appeals correctly applied existing law regarding forfeiture of counsel. As such, there was no manifest injustice in the plea process. Sanchez has not provided a basis upon which this Court should accept review of this issue.

2. Sanchez has not provided a basis upon which this Court should accept review of the Court of Appeals decision to not consider his CrR 7.8 motion on appeal.

Following his plea of guilty, Sanchez filed a motion to withdraw his guilty plea and a motion for arrest of judgment. The trial court considered the motion on July 2, 2019. 3 RP 13;¹ CP 182-188. At the start of his argument, Sanchez mentioned that he had filed a separate CrR. 7.8 modified judgment, and stated, "Ultimately what it's - - what it's pertaining to is a proposed order that was trying to - - well, if it could be met rather than a complete arrest or complete withdrawal, this would fix a lot of the issues with a modification of judgment with a couple of the things that I mentioned in the motion." 3 RP 22. The trial court indicated that it had not received the proposed modification and allowed Sanchez to present arguments verbally. 3 RP 22. During his arguments, Sanchez made it clear that he was not truly arguing CrR 7.8, but attempting to get the trial court to accept a

¹ The verbatim report of proceedings from June 5, 2019, and July 2, 2019, appear in a single volume which the State designated as 3 RP in the original brief of Respondent.

and arrest of judgment motions. During the hearing, Sanchez repeatedly indicated that a modification of sentence could be done instead of a withdrawal of his plea. 3 RP 24, 28, 29, 30, 51, Sanchez argued, "I also have five different appeals that have to do exactly this. If my modified judgment is accepted, the majority of those appeals go away and it would make frugal use." 3 RP 29. Sanchez indicated the purpose of his motion, stating, "I'm willing to still do a conviction, but there's some things that just need to be tailored a little bit." 3 RP 40.

In response, the prosecutor noted, "just for the record, the State is not in agreement to any modification of the negotiated resolution in this case, nor is the State in agreement to any modification of the judgment and sentence that was issued in this case." 3 RP 68. The prosecutor then indicated that Sanchez failed to meet his burden to withdraw his plea and noted, "his motion for arrest of judgment – the State's position is that rule does not apply as there was no jury verdict in this

case." 3 RP 68-69. The trial court denied the motion pursuant to both CrR 4.7 and CrR 7.8. 3 RP 75-78. 2 CP 238-239. Sanchez focused his rebuttal argument on CrR 7.4. 3 RP 69-73. The trial court addressed the motion for arrest of judgment and withdrawal of plea, noting, "It is filed as a single motion, but technically there are two requests with two different standards that have been presented in this motion." 3 RP 74. The trial court denied the motion for arrest of judgment stating, "the Court does not believe that Criminal Rule 7.4 concerning arrest of judgments applies in the context of a plea resolving a case rather than a verdict or some other decision," and "even if arrest of judgment did apply in these circumstances, the Court stands by its prior determination at the time it accepted the plea that there is a sufficient factual basis for the plea." 3 RP 74-75.

The trial court then ruled on the motion to withdraw guilty plea finding that Sanchez had not met his burden of demonstrating a manifest injustice. 3 RP 76-77. The Court of Appeals noted that "Sanchez's written motion below was a CrR

7.4 motion, not a CrR 7.8 motion." <u>Unpublished Decision</u>, at 22. The Court of Appeals noted that "Sanchez does not contest the trial court's denial of the motion under CrR 7.4" and "declined to address Sanchez's arguments based on CrR 7.8." *Id.* at 22-23. Sanchez's oral argument to the trial court regarding CrR 7.8 was more akin to an attempt to negotiate a different resolution than a true motion under CrR 7.8. The Court of Appeals did not err in finding that the motion and ruling considered by the trial court was not based in CrR 7.8. There is no basis upon which this Court should grant review.

Moreover, as argued in the Brief of Respondent, Sanchez's arguments based on due process and fundamental fairness were without merit, even if Sanchez had made them in a proper CrR 7.8 motion. "Criminal defendants have a due process right to a fair trial by an impartial judge." <u>In re Pers.</u> Restraint of Swenson, 158 Wn. App. 812, 818, 244 P.3d 959 (2010), Wash. Const. Art. 1, § 22, U.S. Const. Amends. VI,

XIV. Under the appearance of fairness doctrine, a judicial proceeding is valid only if a reasonably prudent, disinterested observer would conclude that the parties received a fair, impartial, and neutral hearing. <u>Matter of Dependency of A.E.T.H.</u>, 9 Wn. App.2d 502, 517, 446 P.3d 667 (2019).

A trial court also has a right and obligation to ensure that "elementary standards of proper conduct" not be disregarded. State v. Deweese, at 380, citing Illinois v. Allen, 397 U.S. 337, 343-44, 25 L.ed 353, 90 S.Ct. 1057 (1970). The manner of maintaining order in the courtroom is within the trial court's discretion. Burgess v. Towne, 13 Wn. App. 954, 960, 538 P.2d 559 (1975).

Sanchez's argument that the trial court aligned himself with the State ignores several portions of the record. The trial court's inquiry with Deputy Snyder, quickly revealed that Snyder made no observations that supported Sanchez's

contention that he was sick. RP 121-22.2 The trial court's comments in regard to Sanchez's physical condition were based on the record as a whole and the trial court's observations of Sanchez throughout the proceedings. RP 167-168. As argued throughout this brief, Sanchez repeatedly engaged in abusive and dilatory behaviors that were recognized by the trial court. The trial court's actions in regard to those behaviors do not constitute an alignment with the State, but rather are part of the trial court's duty to control the courtroom and proceedings.

The trial court did not limit the time that Sanchez had to consider the plea offer. The trial court stated that court would reconvene at 4:20, and "at that time I will either be accepting a change of plea or I will be receiving information that is not going to happen at all *or yet*, and then we will bring the jury over." RP 263 (emphasis added). The trial court in no way

² The motions in limine, trial, and change of plea occur in two sequentially paginated volumes which were collectively referenced as RP in the Brief of Respondent and are so referenced herein.

limited the time that Sanchez could consider the offer, rather, the trial court properly noted that jury selection would continue if Sanchez was not yet in a position to accept the State's offer. There was no indication that a plea could not have occurred the following day.

Additionally, during the plea, the trial court properly informed Sanchez that the trial court must be convinced that any plea is knowingly, voluntary and intelligently made. RP 269. In so doing, the trial court was protecting Sanchez's rights. An objective review of the records reveals exactly what the trial court stated, "being a judge presiding over any trial is exceedingly difficult," and even more difficult when a party works against the case with the purpose of delay and actively attempts to create potholes at every part of the trial. RP 159-160. However, as the record as a whole demonstrates that the trial court did what he could to protect Sanchez's rights, as the trial court stated, "I will never hold anything against Mr. Sanchez personally or otherwise. I will honor and do my best,

as is my sworn duty, to honor everyone's rights, especially a criminal defendant's." RP 160.

The record does not support a due process violation or a violation of the appearance of fairness doctrine when the reasonable observer "knows and understands all of the relevant facts." State v. Solis-Diaz, 187 Wn.2d 535, 540, 387 P.3d 703 (2017), citing, Sherman v. State, 128 Wn.2d 164, 206, 905 P.2d 355 (1995).

As the Court of Appeals noted, however, the issue before the trial court was Sanchez's CrR 7.4 motion. There is no basis upon which this Court should accept review of the decision of the Court of Appeals.

D. CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated herein, the State respectfully requests that this Court deny review.

I certify that this document contains 2572 words as counted by word processing software, not including those

portions exempted from the word count, in compliance with RAP 18.17.